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The following changes and revisions are incorporated into the Request for Proposal to provide Airport 
Network Media Programming (“RFP”) issued by the City of Chicago’s Department of Aviation (“CDA”) on 
January 7, 2022. All other provisions and requirements as originally set forth in the RFP remain in full 
force and effect, unless amended by previous addenda. 
 

RESPONDENT MUST ACKNOWLEDGE RECEIPT OF THE ADDENDUM IN THE 
COVER LETTER SUBMITTED WITH ITS PROPOSAL 

 
Question 61:  Regarding our review of the Sample Agreement - we do not see specific instruction for 
how Respondents should address feedback or areas for further discussion.  We currently plan to note 
such items in the “Exclusions” section of our Response.  Is that acceptable or do you have some other 
way that you would want that information provided? 
Answer: Questions submitted by potential respondents should have included feedback about the 
Sample Agreement. Any minor additional items should be included in the “Exceptions” section of your 
proposal and should be clearly noted in the submittal to be considered and evaluated by CDA. 
 
Question 62:  Section 4.7 Please confirm that Airport Network must pay for all utilities and connections. 
Can you explain how that would work for a 100+ sign network?  
Answer:  The City may charge Licensee for utility usage as additional rent for utilities based on a 
reasonable estimate of usage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City, after written notice to the 
Licensee, may select any other reasonable method for calculating the utility usage as additional rent 
and such periodic updates shall not require an amendment to this Agreement. 
 
Question 63:  Section 5.9 Please explain the requirement that 50% of actual construction be conducted 
by actual residents of the city. With highly technical work such as this we would like to understand how 
this may factor into that. Also towards that end please explain how the payroll requirement would work 
please? 
Answer: As indicated in Section 5.9 of the Sample Agreement, the Selected Respondent may request a 
reduction or waiver of this minimum percentage level of Chicagoans in accordance with standards and 
procedures developed by the Chief Procurement Officer of the City, which may be accessed at: 
https://www.chicago.gov/content/dam/city/depts/dol/rulesandregs/PercentagesCityandProjectAreaRes
identsWorkerHours.pdf. 
 

https://www.chicago.gov/content/dam/city/depts/dol/rulesandregs/PercentagesCityandProjectAreaResidentsWorkerHours.pdf
https://www.chicago.gov/content/dam/city/depts/dol/rulesandregs/PercentagesCityandProjectAreaResidentsWorkerHours.pdf


Question 64:  Section 6.3 suggests that the Airport Network remove all Airport Network property and 
trade fixtures prior to expiration of agreement. Can you confirm that to be true since the remnants of 
the prior network remain today? 
Answer: Section 4.4 indicates that all Service Equipment is property of the City. The only items that 
are not property of the City and that Airport Network will be required to remove are “personal 
property and proprietary trade fixtures.” However, at the end of the term the City will coordinate 
with the Selected Respondent as to the specifics of the removal of personal property, trade fixtures 
and certain improvements.  
 
Question 65:  Please explain how the Date of Beneficial Ownership is established. Is it a mutually agreed 
upon date? How does that affect the ‘year’ as regards payments? If the DBO is midyear does that means 
the year goes through December 31, starting again January 1? 
Answer: The Date of Beneficial Occupancy is defined in the Sample Agreement as follows: 
"Date of Beneficial Occupancy" or “DBO” means the latest to occur of (A) or (B) as follows:  
A. the date that is ninety (90) days after the Effective Date;  
B. the date set forth in the Development Plan for the commencement of the Service; provided, 
however, that the date set forth in the Development Plan for commencement of the Service shall be 
extended one day for each day Airport Network has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 
Commissioner that Airport Network was delayed due to force majeure event pursuant to Section 
11.20. Under no circumstance can this date exceed sixty (60) days beyond the date established in A. 
above. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Airport Network commences providing the Service before 
the DBO determined in accordance with the foregoing, the DBO is the date that the Service 
commences. The DBO shall be confirmed in writing by the parties, and such written “Confirmation(s) 
of DBO” shall thereafter be attached to Exhibit 1 of this Agreement without need for a formal 
amendment of this Agreement. The License Fee accrues from the DBO on. The License Fee is the 
greater of the MAG and the Percentage Fee. Although the MAG is zero for the first year, the 
Percentage Fee will still be owed.   
 
 
Question 66:  Section 4.4 (E) Emergency access provisions. Presumably, the City will work with Airport 
Network to address the framework and rules for this capability?  
Answer:  Yes, CDA will work with the Selected Respondent to finalize the rules and/or protocols to 
ensure CDA can access the system, for emergency purposes, which may include broadcasting 
emergency messages. 
 
Question 67:  Page 32. Section 7.2 (Time of Payments) 
A. On or before the first day of each calendar month, prorated for any partial calendar month, beginning 
on the DBO and continuing throughout the Term, Airport Network must pay to the City that portion of 
the Minimum Annual Guarantee as may be due pursuant to Section 7.1(A)(i)(b). 
The current process for the Respondent is to pay its 12 airport partners’ Minimum Annual 
Guarantee quarterly, by the 10th day of the first month in each quarter, effectively paying in advance for 
each quarter. This is the standard payment methodology for all our current eligible airport partners and 
would mean that the City of Chicago would receive payments earlier than what is being proposed in the 
Sample Agreement. Will the City allow the existing quarterly payment structure to continue? 
Answer: The License Fee and Additional Fee (“Fees”) due to the City of Chicago will be in accordance 
with Sections 7.1 and 7.2 of the Sample Agreement. 
 



 
Question 68:  Page 32. Section 7.4 (Reports) 
A. Monthly. Airport Network must furnish to the Commissioner on or before the 15th day of each 
calendar month falling wholly or in part within the Term of this Agreement a complete statement, 
certified by Airport Network, of the amount of Gross Revenues by Airport Network during the preceding 
month. B. Daily and/or Weekly. Airport Network will furnish to the Commissioner daily and/or weekly 
sales reports, if requested, breaking down all sales and Gross Revenues by selling category and by each 
separate Package. If so requested, Airport Network will provide Commissioner with statistical 
information regarding the number and type of transactions occurring for each Package, in the form 
specified by the Commissioner. REQUEST FOR CLARIFICATION: The Respondent is not a traditional retail 
location, but a business based on advertising sales, which are reported quarterly. Is the language in 
Sections 7.4.A. and 7.4.B. applicable to this agreement? Will quarterly reporting be acceptable to the 
CDA as is standard in the industry? 
Answer: Advertising sales are currently reported on a monthly basis to CDA. It is expected that the 
Selected Respondent will meet the reporting requirements, as outlined in Section 7.4 Reports of the 
Sample Agreement.  
 
 
Question 69:  Page 32. Section 7.4.C (i) (Reports) 
Under our existing agreement with all of our airport partners we provide a complete 
statement of revenues, certified by an independent certified public accountant engaged by Airport 
Network, 120 days after the end of each calendar year. This timing is in compliance with our parent 
company’s annual statement/audit. The Respondent does not have the ability to change the timing of 
the release of this report. Will it be acceptable to the CDA for the Respondent to continue providing this 
report by April 30th of each year? 
Answer: If the Selected Respondent is unable to meet the reporting requirement outlined in the 
Sample Agreement, then it should be prepared to provide CDA with a written explanation as to why it 
is unable to meet the due date and request an extension for the submission of the certified statement 
of revenues.  
 


